FILED 10/9/2017 4:11 PM Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

SUPREME COURT NO			
Court of Appeals No.			
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON			
STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent			
v.			
DONALD McELFISH, Petitioner			
PETITION FOR REVIEW			

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 PO Box 829 Graham, WA 253-445-7920

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Donald McElfish, through his attorney, Marie Trombley, requests the relief designated in Part II.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. McElfish seeks review of the decision by the Court of Appeals issued on August 7, 2017. The Court reversed the trial court order for a new trial and remanded for a determination based only on findings that are supported by substantial evidence. A copy of the Court's opinion is attached as Appendix A. The Court denied Mr. McElfish's motion for reconsideration on September 8, 2017. Mr. McElfish was the respondent below and the petitioner in this matter. This petition for review is timely.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Where the trial court's oral ruling interprets and clarifies its written findings of fact and conclusions of law, may the reviewing Court rely on that reasoning to find substantial evidence supporting the finding?
- B. Where a witness's testimony sharply differs from the complaining witness's testimony, is a trial court's finding that there was no direct evidence corroborating the complaining witness's testimony supported by substantial evidence?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Trial Testimony

In July 2013, Cowlitz County prosecutors charged Donald McElfish by information with attempted rape in the first degree, indecent liberties- forcible compulsion, kidnapping in the first degree, assault in the second degree with intent to commit a felony with sexual motivation. CP1-2. He was convicted on all counts with the exception of indecent liberties. CP 5.

At trial, C.M. testified that on October 4, 2012, she and a friend spent the night at a home where Mr. McElfish, Brandt Jensen and a few other individuals lived. (5/12/14 RP 9-10). The following day, October 5, Jensen was intoxicated. (5/12/14 RP 12). As he had done on previous occasions, he accused C.M. of having taken a particular bag from him and told her she had to return it to him. (5/12/14 RP 13-14). When she was unable to produce the bag, he became angry, grabbed her arm and said, "We're going to talk to Donnie [McElfish] about this." (5/12/14 RP 16-17;88). Along with Ron Easly, who was there that day, he walked her down to the garage, where Mr. McElfish lived. (5/12/14 RP 17).

When they arrived at the garage/shop, Jensen screamed at a sleeping McElfish to wake up. (5/12/14 RP 19-20). C.M. said McElfish was not really awake and just sat. (5/12/14 RP 20). Jensen hit her in the

face several times and told her to take off her clothing. (5/12/14 RP 24). He pulled out his gun. (5/12/14 RP 26). She complied and Jensen duct taped her to a chair. (5/12/14 RP 25). In the process of duct taping, Jensen cut himself and angrily threatened to stab her. (5/12/14 RP 26).

He screamed in her face and threatened to kill her. (5/12/14 RP 33). Jensen told her that she would have to have sex with him, Easly, McElfish and the dog in order to pay for stealing the bag. (5/12/14 RP 34). McElfish did not say or do anything. (5/12/14 RP 29). Easley and Jensen left in order to attend to Jensen's cut finger. (5/12/14 RP 34-35).

Alone with McElfish, she testified he said, "Well, are you going to ...get it done, or are you going to get it done before they come back down or –about participating or something." 5/12/14 RP 35). She spoke with McElfish and said that he acknowledged he would never rape someone. (5/12/14 RP 36). She stated he kind of "poked" her breast. (5/12/14 RP 38). In answer to the prosecutor's questioning "Did he try and touch your vagina?" she responded, "just a little—barely....I can't really put my finger on that ...he might have." (5/12/14 RP39).

Alone in the room with Mr. McElfish, she removed the duct tape and got up from the chair. He did not stop her. She grabbed one of his shirts. (5/12/14 RP 37;40-41;43). He grabbed it back and said, "Give me that, that's my shirt." (5/12/14 RP 41). She climbed on top of his computer

to get out a window. (5/12/14 RP 43). He tried to pull her down and told her to get off of his computer. (5/12/14 RP 43;105). She jumped on his bed and thought he was blocking her from leaving. (5/12/14 RP 44). She reported that Mr. McElfish then opened a sliding glass door and called for Jensen and Easly. (5/12/14 RP 44). She grabbed a small towel and ran out the backdoor. She said he tried to grab her, but she was already partly out the door and he did not "have much to grab onto" and she ran. (5/12/14 RP 45).

As she ran along the road, she unsuccessfully tried to stop three cars for help. (5/12/14 RP 53). She eventually went to a home and hid on top of a shelf behind some garbage bags in the carport. (5/12/14 RP 55). She left that spot and broke into the home to hide. (5/12/14 RP 58). She grabbed some pajamas, and crawled around the house on the floor with a flashlight. (5/12/14 RP 59). She climbed into a bathroom cupboard and pulled some flowers in front of the door and remained hidden for about an hour. (5/12/14 RP 61). She came out because "my organs were cramping up…my heartbeat was so loud inside there that I thought maybe they could hear it out there if they were in there. Every sound was amplified…" (5/12/14 RP 61).

She left the hiding spot and found some alcohol to drink. (5/12/14 RP 63). She then found a phone and called a friend to come and get her.

(5/12/14 RP 64). The woman who owned the home returned and called the police. (5/12/14 RP 68).

2. Recantation

Two years later, based on a declaration by C.M., Mr. McElfish filed a motion for a new trial on grounds of newly discovered evidence. (CP 18-27). The court granted a hearing and heard testimony on May 10, 2016.

C.M. testified that she had spoken with other people in the community and based on those discussions, an acquaintance named Cindy prepared an affidavit for her. (5/10/16 RP 8). C.M. said that on the day she saw the affidavit she was having a hard time staying awake and felt sick. Cindy told her that if any of the facts were not accurate that they should be changed to the correct facts. (5/10/16 RP 33). C.M. did not change anything. She took the document to the Kalama City Hall, and before a notary signed the document under penalty of perjury. (5/10/16 RP 8-9;CP 25-27).

C.M. testified that she was surprised to learn Jensen received far less prison time than Mr. McElfish, and was concerned that Mr. McElfish was unfairly punished. (5/10/16 RP 7-8). She testified that she had difficulty with trusting people. While she feared that people would be mad at her, the reality was that no one had threatened her on behalf of Mr.

McElfish. (5/10/16 RP 44). She was very concerned, however, that she would be charged with perjury because of the change in her testimony. (5/10/16 RP 35).

C.M. testified fairly similar to her trial testimony and added that Mr. McElfish had no part in beating or threatening her. (5/10/16 RP 47). He appeared to be scared of Jensen and she believed he was acting out of fear. (5/10/16 RP 48). He did not kidnap her. (5/10/16 RP 31). He did not try to rape her. (5/10/16 RP 31;39). She did not remember testifying that he attempted to touch her vagina. (5/10/16 RP 40). She also testified that when she was attempting to climb on Mr. McElfish's computer he told her to get off of it; he did not tell she could not leave or try to pull her down. (5/10/16 RP 24).

In its oral ruling, the court found the written declaration submitted by C.M. was not completely reliable. (5/10/16 RP 66). The court noted, however, that the reliability determination was based on her testimony and not the written declaration. The court found her testimony to be reliable. (5/10/16 RP 66-67).

Having found C.M.'s testimony reliable, the court further found that she had recanted, in part: specifically, that Mr. McElfish had not touched her in a sexual manner and did not try to rape her. (5/10/16 RP 67). The court also found that C.M.'s testimony placed Mr. McElfish in a

far more limited role than at her trial. (5/10/16 RP 66-67). The court analyzed the five Williams factors finding (1) the changed testimony would probably change the results of a trial if a new trial were granted; (2) as with most or all recantations it follows the trial and thus was discovered since the trial; (3) the evidence could not have been discovered before trial by exercising due diligence; (4) the statements were material and admissible at a new trial; (5) the evidence is neither cumulative nor impeaching in its nature. (5/10/16 RP 68-69). The court entered findings of fact and conclusions of law and ordered a new trial. CP 34-37. The State appealed the trial court decision. CP 32.

Division One of the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court decision, holding that findings of fact 6, 8, and 9 were not based on substantial evidence. It remanded for the trial court to make a determination based only on findings that are supported by substantial evidence. Op. at 12.

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The considerations which govern the decision to grant review are set forth in RAP 13.4(b). The ruling by the Court of Appeals involves an issue of substantial public interest. Determination of reliability of

recantation testimony is a crucial factor in the trial court authorizing a new trial.

a. Finding of Fact 6

At pages 7-8 of its opinion, the Court held the trial court's Finding of Fact 6 was not supported by substantial evidence.

At the hearing on May 10[,][C.M.] testified she was aware of the contents of the affidavit and that half of the affidavit was incorrect and that half of it was correct.

(CP 36).

The Court correctly pointed out that no one asked C.M. to estimate the proportion of the written affidavit that was correct and the proportion that was incorrect. However, a reviewing Court may look to the trial court's oral ruling to interpret its written findings and conclusions to the extent the oral and written rulings are consistent. *State v. Bynum*, 76 Wn. App. 262, 266, 884 P.2d 10 (1994). Here, the oral and written rulings by the trial court are consistent. In its oral ruling, the court reasoned:

[t]he court does not find that statement [affidavit] is completely reliable because [C.M.] testified she didn't type it up and *there are inaccurate statements*. However, she also testifies *there are statements that were correct in that statement*. So, although -- because it was created, typed up, by another person, it does have inaccurate information, she identified that information that wasn't accurate; but, again, however, she does testify there are also statements in that statement that were correct.

5/10/16 RP 66. (emphasis added).

The trial court's intent and reasoning for the finding is further informed by Conclusion of Law 1:

The testimony of [C.M.] on May 10, 2016, and in part the affidavit dated February 18, 2015, constituted a recantation of her trial testimony.

(CP 36).

Viewing the written finding in the context of the oral ruling, the finding was supported by substantial evidence. Alternatively, on remand, the trial court may excise the word "half" and insert the word "part" and the finding will be unequivocally supported by substantial evidence.

b. Finding of Fact 8

c.

At pages 8-10 of its opinion, the Court held the trial courts written Finding of Fact 8 was not supported by substantial evidence:

Inconsistent with her testimony at trial, while stating Mr. McElfish touched her breast, she testified that Mr. McElfish did not touch her in a sexual manner. She denied that he touched her vagina and added that at the time of this incident, the defendant appeared to be scared of Jensen. The court finds this testimony to be reliable.

(CP 37).

At trial, the prosecutor asked C.M.:

- Q. "Did he touch you at any point when you were in the room after you got loose from the chair on your body?
- A. That was when I was still sitting on the chair.
- Q. Okay. So tell me about that.
- A. I don't know. He just kind of like tried like I don't know, it's O. Okav
- A. He just I don't it's kind of like he touched he like I can't really remember specifically, but he like touched my boob or just,

you know, tried to -I can't remember. He just kind of -i f he was my friend, he wouldn't do that, so it wasn't like (3/10/14 RP 37-38).

The implication from her testimony was that it was not a 'friendly' touch, but rather, an unwelcome sexual touch.

At the later hearing, the prosecutor posed the following:

- Q. You also said just a few moments ago that Donnie didn't really do anything sexual. The question was did he do anything sexual and you said, "not really." What do you mean?
- A. I mean, he didn't –I don't know. He—he just he didn't, like, try to rape me, like, or anything, really.
- Q. Did he try to touch you in any other way, besides the touching of your breast?
- A. No, but he—when I grabbed his shirt to cover my body with it he said, "give me my shirt," and grabbed it back from me...
- Q. Now, during the trial, at the original trial, you testified that you remembered something about him trying to touch you anywhere else on your body and you said on your privates your private area.
- A. I don't remember that, I don't

I mean, I -- I might have blanked -- blacked it out, or something. (5/10/16 RP 39-40).

It is unclear from the record whether C.M. meant she forgot testifying about an attempted touching, or whether an attempted touching ever happened. What she did *not* testify to was an attempt by McElfish to touch her vagina.

When specifically asked "Did he try to touch you at any point while you were still sitting in the chair?" she responded "[h]e, like, touched my boob or something". (5/10/16 RP 38). Regarding touching her breast, C.M. testified "He just touched –grabbed me, or something…it happened…he just

went real fast." (5/10/16 RP 45). She was asked if she could point to anything to show that the touching was sexual in nature and responded: "Well, I don't know he did it, but it must've been something." (5/10/16 RP 46). She then explained that he "grabbed" her breast. Id. The "must've been something" referred to touching her breast, not her vaginal area. When asked if he tried to touch her in any other way, 'besides the touching of your breast' she responded "No, but he—when I grabbed his shirt to cover my body with it he said, "Give me my shirt," and grabbed it back from me..." (5/10/16 RP 39).

C.M. was clear that McElfish did not do anything sexual toward her. (5/10/16 RP 29). She clarified that he did not try to have sex with her or rape her or "anything along those lines." (5/10/16 RP 29,31,39,48). She also testified McElfish never tried to kidnap her. (5/10/16 RP 31).

The trial court's oral ruling stated:

It is the Court's finding that based on the testimony of C.M. today that she has recanted, at least in part, her prior testimony. In particular, the statements that the defendant did not touch her in a sexual manner and she made a few different statements representing that, including he did not rape her, and specifically responded he $-\dots$ he did not touch her in a sexual manner.

(5/10/16 RP 67).

The trial court's written finding includes information the court surmised from the confused and confusing answer given by C.M. regarding

denial of touching her vagina. The finding is supported by substantial evidence. However, on remand, the trial court could simply excise that portion of the written finding, and tailor finding of fact 8 to its oral ruling.

c. Finding of Fact 9

At pages 10-12 of its opinion, the Court addressed the trial court's Finding of Fact 9:

There was no direct evidence at trial that corroborated the claims made by [C.M.]. (CP 36).

The Court held the finding was too broad because the testimony of Deputy Hammer and Tabitha Gaylor provided "some direct evidence" corroborating C.M.'s claims. The Court cited to *State v. Macon*, 128 Wn.2d 784, 800, 911 P.2d 1004 (1996) as authority for its ruling on the issue: that a witness's statements to others, if admitted at trial, may be independent corroboration of her trial testimony, even if it is later recanted.

It is the role of the trial court at a recantation hearing to determine the credibility and reliability of the recanting witness. *State v. York*, 78 Wn.App. 352, 361, 899 P.2d 810 (1995). The existence of independent corroborating evidence "might make the determination easier, but the absence of corroborating evidence does not relieve the trial court of its threshold responsibility." *Id.* Even if there were direct corroborating evidence at trial, the court is still tasked with making a threshold determination: If a court

finds the recantation testimony credible, but there is independent corroborating evidence to support the conviction, "the trial court may grant a new trial or not, it is entirely within the court's discretion." *Id.* Thus, whether independent corroborating evidence exists to support the original testimony of a recanting witness is not a controlling factor in determining whether to grant a new trial on the basis of newly discovered evidence. *State v. Ieng*, 87 Wn.App. 873, 881, 942 P.2d 1091(1997).

Similarly, the nonexistence of corroborating evidence is also not a dispositive factor: the trial court must make its own determination concerning the credibility of a recantation. *Ieng*, 87 Wn.App. at 880.

Significantly, the trial record here shows that Deputy Hammer's testimony did *not* corroborate the testimony of C.M. at critical points. He testified to a significantly different and more incriminating set of facts than C.M. testified to at trial and at the later evidentiary hearing.

Hammer testified she told him that all three men, Brandt Jensen, Ron Easley, and Mr. McElfish, took her down into Mr. McElfish's bedroom. 3RP 12. At the hearings, she testified Jensen and Easely took her down to the shop and woke a sleeping McElfish. (5/12/14 RP 16-17,20; 5/10/16 RP 15-16).

Hammer said she told him that after Jensen cut his finger "they" started pushing her around and yelling at her. 3RP 14. She testified that only Jensen hit and screamed at her. (5/12/14 RP 24,33; 5/10/16 RP 18).

He said she reported that Jensen duct taped her to the chair, and she managed to get her arms and legs loose, while Jensen was still in the room. 3RP 14. By contrast, she testified Jensen and Easley left and she removed the duct tape. Mr. McElfish did not interfere with her freeing herself. (5/12/14 RP 37,40-41, 43;5/10/16 RP 23-24).

Hammer said she told him that after she got free from the duct tape, Jensen ordered her into the bedroom where McElfish and Easley were waiting. 3RP 14. Then Easley and Jensen left. 3RP 14-15. He reported she told him she was on the bed with McElfish, where he grabbed her breasts, her body, and attempted to grab her vagina. 3RP 15. She testified Jensen was already gone when she freed herself from the tape. (5/10/16 RP 25-26). She did not testify she was ever on a bed with McElfish. The testimony of Hammer was not corroborating evidence.

Similarly, Ms. Gaylor did not go into to the shop when only C.M. and McElfish were inside. She did not know what occurred inside the room. (3/12/14 RP 184-186).

Mr. McElfish asks the Court to hold, as it did in *Ieng*, that the *existence or nonexistence* of corroborating evidence is irrelevant, as it is not

a dispositive factor in determining reliability. The testimony of Detective Hammer did not provide "direct evidence" and the trial court's finding was supported by substantial evidence.

VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing facts and authority, Mr. McElfish respectfully asks this Court to accept review of his petition.

Submitted this 9th day of October 2017.

Marie Trombley WSRA

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 Attorney for Petitioner