FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/3/2017 2:25 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 95088-1 COA NO. 76737-2-I Cowlitz Co. Cause NO. 12-1-01146-7

SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DONALD HOWARD MCELFISH

Appellant/Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

AILA WALLACE/WSBA 46898 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW FIRST KELSO, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080

III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV.	ARGUMENT9
	1. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY HELD THAT THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT WERE NOT SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE. THEREFORE, THE PETITION FOR REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE GRANTED
V.	CONCLUSION 13

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page

Cases
State v. Ieng, 87 Wn. App. 873, 942 P.2d 1091 (1997)
State v. Macon, 128 Wn.2d 784, 911 P.2d 1004 (1996)
State v. Solomon, 114 Wn. App. 781, 60 P.3d 1215 (2002)
State v. Stevenson, 128 Wn. App. 179, 114 P.3d 699 (2005)
Rules
RAP 13.4(b)9

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The State of Washington, by and through the Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney's Office, respectfully requests this Court deny review of the August 7, 2017, unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals in *State v. McElfish*, COA No. 76737-2-I. This decision reversed the trial court's grant of McElfish's motion for a new trial and remanded the case for a determination by the trial court based only on findings that are supported by substantial evidence.

II. ANSWER TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Court of Appeals properly held that three of the trial court's findings were not supported by substantial evidence. The trial court's oral ruling did not sufficiently clarify its written findings, and the trial court's finding that there was no corroborative evidence was not supported by substantial evidence.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 19, 2013, the State of Washington charged Donald McElfish with attempted first degree rape, first degree kidnapping, second degree assault with sexual motivation, and indecent liberties. CP 1. Prior to trial, the State sought and was granted a material witness warrant to secure the presence of the victim, Cheryl Miranda, at trial. CP 4. At trial,

Miranda testified as follows. On October 5, 2012, she was at a residence with Brandt Jensen, Donald McElfish, and various other people. RP 3/12/14, 9.1 Jensen was drunk and angry because he thought Miranda had stolen a bag that belonged to him. RP 3/12/14, 12–13. He grabbed her arm and marched her down to a shop or garage that was separate from the house. Another man, who went by the name of Piglet, accompanied them. RP 3/12/14, 16; 18. McElfish, who lived in the garage, was sleeping when Jensen went in and yelled to McElfish to get up because they were going to talk to Miranda about her stealing the bag. RP 3/12/14, 20.

Jensen said that Miranda was going to have to pay for stealing his bag. RP 3/12/14, 21. He told her to take her clothes off and sit in a chair, and then pulled a gun out and showed it to her, to threaten her. RP 3/12/14, 25; 26. He then duct-taped her to the chair, and threatened to cut her with a knife he was using to cut the tape. RP 3/12/14, 26. McElfish and Piglet were standing nearby; McElfish did not tell Jensen to stop or to let Miranda go. RP 3/12/14, 29. At two separate times, two different people came to the garage and knocked on the door. McElfish screamed at the people to go away because he was "busy." RP 3/12/14, 30–31; 42.

¹ There are multiple verbatim reports of proceedings in this case, including those from the original trial and those from the recantation hearing. All RPs will be labelled with the date on the cover of the transcript and the relevant page number.

Jensen told Miranda that he was going to kill her, and that all three of the men were going to have sex with her in retribution for her stealing his bag. RP 3/12/14, 34. Jensen and Piglet then left the room because Jensen had cut himself while he was taping Miranda to the chair. RP 3/12/14, 35. McElfish and Miranda were alone in the room and McElfish said, "Well, are you going to get, you know, get it done, or are you going to get it done before they come back down." RP 3/12/14, 35. She reminded him of a time that he had told her he would never force a woman to do anything she did not want to do and he "just kind of stopped and he said: Yeah, you're right." RP 3/12/14, 36. At some point when she was still taped to the chair, though, McElfish touched her breast and tried to touch her vagina. RP 3/12/14, 38–39. Miranda testified that she could not remember if he actually touched her vagina. *Id*.

Miranda was eventually able to free herself from the tape. She tried to run around McElfish and jump on the bed to get away. RP 3/12/14, 37. She grabbed a shirt to try to cover herself but McElfish yanked it out of her hand and said, "Give me that, that's my shirt" in an angry tone of voice. RP 3/12/14, 41. Miranda then tried to escape out a window but McElfish pulled her down from the window and blocked her exit. RP 3/12/14, 43–44. He then went to the door to call Jensen and Piglet back. RP 3/12/14, 44. She ran toward the other door to escape and grabbed a small towel to try to cover

herself. RP 3/12/14, 45. She was partially out the door when McElfish grabbed her and tried to pull her back into the garage. RP 3/12/14, 45; 48. She was able to escape, though, and ran away. RP 3/12/14, 52. She ran to the home of Merla Paul, where she hid until Paul came home and called the police. RP 3/12/14, 54; 209.

Vicky Cahoon and Tabitha Gaylor were the two individuals who knocked on the door of the garage during this incident. They testified that McElfish yelled at them to go away. Gaylor testified that Miranda screamed her name at the top of her lungs and that she sounded scared. RP 3/12/14, 146–47; 183. Merla Paul then testified that she found Miranda in her home and Miranda told her what had happened. RP 3/12/14, 212. She testified that Miranda had said that three men took her clothes off, duct-taped her to a chair, and were going to rape her. *Id.* Miranda had told her that one of the men was in the Gypsy Joker motorcycle gang. *Id.* She also told Paul that she was able to get away when two of the men left one man alone with her to get started. *Id.*

Finally, Deputy Jason Hammer testified that he spoke to Miranda on October 5, 2012, and what she told him about the events that transpired matched her own testimony. RP 3/13/14, 11–17. She told him that McElfish had grabbed her breasts and body, and tried to grab her vagina.

RP 3/13/14, 15. McElfish was found guilty of all the charges except indecent liberties. CP 5.

Approximately two and one-half years later, on April 9, 2015, McElfish moved for a new trial based on the discovery of new evidence – namely, a typed document titled "Declaration of Cheryl L. Miranda" that purported to recant Miranda's trial testimony. CP 18–27. This document was signed by Cheryl Miranda in front of a notary on February 18, 2015. CP 26; RP 5/10/16, 9. The document stated, in relevant part, "He [McElfish] looked at me and pointed to the back door of his room and he opened it and told me to run. He said he would tell Brandt that he fell back to sleep and guessed that I got out the back door. The tape was loose and as I leaped towards the door, Donald reached for a piece of the tape dangling from my wrist. I now realize he was only trying to help me get the tape off. Donald handed me a small white towel. I fled without my clothes, because I was so scared and I just wanted out of that insane situation." CP 25–26.

The trial court held a factual hearing on May 10, 2016, to determine whether the written statement was a recantation, whether it was credible, whether Miranda would adhere to it under oath and subject to cross-examination, and whether the motion for a new trial should be granted. RP 5/10/16, 3. Miranda testified as follows at the hearing. On October 5, 2012, Miranda was at the residence of McElfish and some other people. RP

5/10/16, 10. Brandt Jensen was there and was angry with Miranda because he thought she had stolen a bag from him. RP 5/10/16, 12. He and another man walked her down to the garage where McElfish's bedroom was and woke up McElfish. RP 5/10/16, 15. Then Jensen hit Miranda a couple of times, displayed a firearm, and made her take her clothes off. RP 5/10/16, 17. He then duct-taped her to a chair. While Jensen was doing this, McElfish was standing nearby; he was not participating or encouraging Jensen. RP 5/10/16, 19.

Jensen told Miranda that she was going to have to "take care" of all three men, which she took to mean that she would have to have sex with all three of them, then he and the other man left her alone with McElfish. RP 5/10/16, 21–23. Once they left, Miranda was able to free herself from the duct-tape and jumped on a computer table to try to get out the window. RP 5/10/16, 24. McElfish yelled at her to get off his computer, so she got down. *Id.* There was a short conversation where McElfish said something to the effect of "let's get busy before they come back," and Miranda reminded him of a time that he had said he would never force a woman. RP 5/10/16, 25. He then went to the door to call the other men back. *Id.* While he was doing this, Miranda was able to get another door open and try to get out. RP 5/10/16, 28. McElfish grabbed her and tried to pull her back in, but she was able to escape. RP 5/10/16, 29.

Miranda also testified that McElfish never did anything sexual to her, but that he tried to. RP 5/10/16, 29–30. When asked, "But it's your testimony here today that my client did not attempt to rape you; correct?" Miranda answered, "I don't know, I got away first. I don't know if he would have or not." RP 5/10/16, 48. She also testified that he "touched her boob or something." RP 5/10/16, 38. She later clarified that be grabbed her right breast when she was seated, duct-taped to the chair. RP 5/10/16, 46. She was unable to remember if he had touched or attempted to touch her vagina. RP 5/10/16, 40. She was clear, however, that he had grabbed her breast and tried to prevent her from leaving the room. RP 5/10/16, 50.

With regard to the written statement that was the basis of McElfish's motion for a new trial, Miranda explained that she did not write the statement. A woman named Cindy previously typed the statement and invited Miranda over to her house. RP 5/10/16, 33. When she got there, Cindy offered her a milkshake, which she accepted, and then became sick to her stomach and very sleepy and could not stay awake. *Id.* She began reading the statement and told Cindy that it made it sound like Miranda had lied, but was unable to read very much of the statement because of how sleepy and ill she became. *Id.* In fact, she did not even read the entire statement before she signed it. RP 5/10/16, 40. Miranda also emphasized the fact that when she signed the document, she was fearful of Jensen and

his friends because some of them were in the Gypsy Joker motorcycle gang. RP 5/10/16, 41. Miranda testified that there was a lot wrong with the statement, but that parts of it were correct. RP 5/10/16, 47. One part that was incorrect was that McElfish did not try to help her escape and was not trying to get the tape off her wrist, as the statement said. RP 5/10/16, 34; 42.

The court found that the typed statement was not completely reliable because Miranda testified that she did not type it and that it contained inaccuracies. RP 5/10/16, 66. However, the court then stated that the relevant question was whether Miranda's testimony at the hearing was a recantation of her trial testimony and found that it was. RP 5/10/16, 66–67. The court specifically noted Miranda's statements that McElfish did not touch her in a sexual manner, he did not rape her, and that his role in the incident was more limited. RP 5/10/16, 67. The court then examined the *Williams* factors and found that all five had been shown. RP 5/10/16, 68–69. Based on those findings, the court granted McElfish's motion for a new trial.

The State timely appealed, and Division One of the Court of Appeals reverse the trial court, holding that findings of fact six, eight, and nine were not based on substantial evidence. It remanded the case for the trial court

to make a determination based only on findings that are supported by substantial evidence.

IV. ARGUMENT

1. The Court of Appeals properly held that the trial court's findings of fact were not supported by substantial evidence. Therefore, the petition for review should not be granted.

RAP 13.4(b) states that a petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only if at least one of four conditions are met: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Neither in the petition for review nor in the decision from the Court of Appeals are there any issues that would fall under one of the four conditions as outlined by RAP 13.4(b). The Division I Court of Appeals holding in this case is not in conflict with any decisions either the Washington Supreme Court or another division of the Court Appeals. The holding also does not raise a significant question of law or involve an issue

of substantial public interest. The factors leading to a decision to grant or deny a motion for a new trial are not an issue of substantial public interest.

A trial court's decision to grant or deny a new trial is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *State v. Ieng*, 87 Wn. App. 873, 877, 942 P.2d 1091 (1997); *State v. Macon*, 128 Wn.2d 784, 803, 911 P.2d 1004 (1996). When a trial court makes findings of fact that are not based on substantial evidence, it is an abuse of that discretion. A court's finding of fact must be supported by substantial evidence. *State v. Stevenson*, 128 Wn. App. 179, 193, 114 P.3d 699 (2005). Substantial evidence is evidence sufficient to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the finding's truth. *State v. Solomon*, 114 Wn. App. 781, 789, 60 P.3d 1215 (2002).

In this case, the Court of Appeals correctly held that three of the trial court's findings were not supported by substantial evidence – Findings Six, Eight, and Nine.

a) Finding of Fact number six

Finding of Fact number six states:

At the hearing on May 10, she testified she was aware of the contents of the affidavit and that half of the affidavit was incorrect and that half of it was correct.

CP 36. Miranda in fact stated, "It's a lot wrong." RP 5/10/16, 47. She was not asked to estimate what percentage of the affidavit was true, and in fact

her hearing testimony contradicted many of the material facts in the affidavit. The trial court's oral ruling does not supply the substantial evidence required. At most, the court's oral ruling simply states that some statements were correct and some were not. While it may be true that the trial court could simply change one word in the language of that finding, an appellate court cannot exchange certain words for others and *then* decide whether findings are supported by substantial evidence. There simply is no support in the record for the finding that half of the affidavit was correct and half was incorrect. Therefore, the Court of Appeals correctly held that finding of fact number six was not supported by substantial evidence.

b) Finding of Fact number eight

Finding of Fact number eight states:

Inconsistent with her testimony at trial, while stating Mr. McElfish touched her breast, she testified that Mr. McElfish did not touch her in a sexual manner. She denied that he touched her vagina and added that at the time of this incident, the defendant appeared to be scared of Jensen. The court finds this testimony to be reliable.

CP 36. At both the trial and the hearing on May 10, 2016, Miranda testified that McElfish touched her breast. RP 3/12/14, 38; RP 5/10/16, 46. At the trial, she did not testify at all regarding whether McElfish touched her in a sexual manner. There is no evidence that she testified to his intent, so any testimony from the May 10 hearing cannot be inconsistent – there is nothing

with which it can be inconsistent. Additionally, Miranda disagreed with McElfish's counsel's attempts to provide non-sexual explanations for his touching of her breasts. Finally, contrary to what Finding of Fact number eight states, Miranda did not deny that McElfish touched her vagina at the May 10 hearing. She stated that she did not remember saying that McElfish tried to touch her on her private area, immediately adding that she may have blacked out the memory. RP 5/10/16, 40. Merely not remembering something is not the same as saying it did not happen, and she never ever say that he did not touch her vagina. Therefore, the trial court appropriately found that there is not substantial evidence to support this finding of fact.

c) Finding of Fact number nine

Finding of Fact number nine states, "There was no direct evidence at trial that corroborated the claims made by Cheryl Miranda." In fact, the testimony of Vicky Cahoon, Tabitha Gaylor, Merla Paul, and Deputy Jason Hammer all corroborated what Miranda testified to at trial. Though these people were not in the room with Miranda and McElfish during the incident, their testimony regarding Miranda's excited utterances, as well as hearing her yell for help, is sufficient to support McElfish's conviction. *See Macon*, 128 Wn.2d at 800. Therefore, there was corroborating evidence to support Miranda's testimony, and there is not substantial evidence to support finding of fact number nine.

The factors that a trial court relies upon when granting or denying a motion for a new trial do not raise a significant question of public interest. The Court of Appeals correctly held that the trial court abused its discretion in this case, which is a relatively limited question that does not impact the public at large. Therefore, there is no basis for this Court to grant review.

V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, Petitioner's petition for discretionary review should be denied.